97299-1

Court of Appeals (Div. One) No. 77479-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LARRY SPOKOINY,

Petitioner,

VS.

THE WASHINGTON STATE YOUTH SOCCER ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Submitted By:

Larry Spokoiny, WSBA # 20274 Petitioner

4306 245th Avenue SE Sammamish, WA 98029 (425) 503-3949

A. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Larry Spokoiny ("Mr. Spokoiny") seeks reversal of the decision by the Court of Appeals, Division One, in Case No. 77479-4-I.

Specifically, Mr. Spokoiny petitions this Court to review (a) the letter of December 27, 2018 setting the case for hearing without oral argument, (b) the Unpublished Opinion filed March 4, 2019, and (c) the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration dated May 6, 2019.

True and correct copies of these Court of Appeals rulings are enclosed in the Appendix.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did WSYA violate RAP 7.2(e) by failing to first seek permission from the appellate court prior to formal entry of its petition to extend the 2006 amended judgment, while the underlying case was still on appeal and WSYSA sought attorney's fees and costs in such petition?
- 2. <u>Is a judgment corrected due to party error entitled to retroactive effect?</u>
- 3. Is a nunc pro tunc order ever appropriate to correct errors committed by parties in drafting their own pleadings?
- 4. <u>Does fundamental procedural due process require some</u> sort of notice to the party against whom relief is sought?
- 5. Was Mr. Spokoiny denied the opportunity to oppose the extension "for timeliness, factual issues of full or partial

satisfaction, or errors in calculating the judgment summary amounts" as contemplated by RCW 6.17.020?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was commenced in King County Superior Court on January 23, 2004. The original judgment in this case was entered by the Honorable Mary Yu on July 8, 2004. The judgment awarded attorney's fee and costs to The Washington State Youth Soccer Association ("WSYSA"). The original judgment was not renewed within 10 years as required by RCW 6.17.020(3), and therefore expired on July 8, 2014. CP at 34.

The Court of Appeals entered a published decision in this case on July 5, 2005. Spokoiny v. Wash. State Youth Soccer Ass'n, 128 Wn. App. 794, 117 P.3d 1141 (2005). CP at 35.

More than 10 years later, WSYSA sought and obtained an ex parte Writ of Garnishment on August 24, 2015 and an ex parte Order Re Supplemental Proceedings on September 3, 2015. Mr. Spokoiny's Motion to Quash was denied by the trial court but timely appealed to the Court of Appeals on November 16, 2015. CP at 35.

On August 9, 2016, while the Court of Appeals' case was pending, and without any notice to Mr. Spokoiny or the Court of Appeals either before or after seeking relief from the trial court, WSYSA obtained an

Order Extending Judgment plus \$20,471.00 in attorney's fees and \$2,133.41 in costs allegedly incurred on appeal. CP at 3-4, 35.

Oral argument on the Appeal was held on September 29, 2016. The Court of Appeals entered an unpublished decision on the Appeal on October 31, 2016. Although the Court determined that WSYSA was able to collect on the amended judgment, there was no ruling on the enforceability of the amended judgment past its original 10-year period. Furthermore, WSYSA was denied attorney's fees on appeal. CP at 36.

Mr. Spokoiny's subsequent Motion for Reconsideration was denied on December 14, 2016. Mr. Spokoiny filed a Petition for Review on January 13, 2017. The Supreme Court denied the petition for review on May 3, 2017. CP at 36.

The Court of Appeals terminated its review upon issuance of the Mandate on July 21, 2017. CP at 36.

After the mandate was issued, Mr. Spokoiny filed his Motion for Order to Show Cause Regarding Vacation of Extension of Judgment on August 9, 2017. CP at 34-38. Oral argument was held before Judge Ken Schubert on September 8, 2017. Verbatim Report of Proceedings.

In a pair of orders entered on September 12, 2017, Judge Schubert denied Mr. Spokoiny's motion to vacate and retroactively extended

WSYSA's judgment by sua sponte nunc pro tunc order. CP at 174-179.

Mr. Spokoiny filed this appeal to Court of Appeals, Division One on October 11, 2017. CP at 180-187.

By letter of December 27, 2018, the Court of Appeals scheduled the appeal for consideration without oral argument on February 26, 2019. *See* Appendix.

The Court of Appeals entered an unpublished decision on this Appeal on March 4, 2019. Mr. Spokoiny's subsequent Motion for Reconsideration was denied on May 6, 2019. See Appendix.

D. ARGUMENT

1. WSYA violated RAP 7.2(e) by failing to first seek permission from the appellate court prior to formal entry of its petition to extend the 2006 amended judgment, while seeking attorney's fees and costs in such petition.

RAP 7.2(e) applies to the authority of the trial court to modify a judgment or motion after an appellate court accepts review. The rule states in part: "If the trial court determination will change a decision then being reviewed by the appellate court, the permission of the appellate court must be obtained *prior to the formal entry* of the trial court decision." RAP 7.2(e) (emphasis added). State Ex Rel. Shafer v. Bloomer, 94 Wash.App. 246, 973 P.2d 1062 (1999).

In order to determine whether the trial court complied with the requirements set forth in RAP 7.2(e), it must be determined whether the trial court order extending the 2006 amended judgment affected the outcome of a decision currently under review. Mr. Spokoiny's appeal directly concerned the continuing enforceability of the 2006 amended judgment, and WSYA sought and was awarded over \$20,000 in attorney's fees and costs for the pending appeal (despite the later denial of these same fees and costs by the Court of Appeals).

In the instant case, WSYSA failed to provide any notice whatsoever of its motion to extend judgment to Mr. Spokoiny or the Court of Appeals either before or after seeking relief from the trial court. This lack of notice essentially blocked Mr. Spokoiny from challenging the extension of judgment. The trial court was unable to perform the necessary RAP 7.2 analysis because the fact of the pending appeal was not disclosed to the court commissioner who signed the extension order.

Extending enforceability of the 2006 amended judgment for an additional 10-year period is a significant change or modification that requires appellate court approval, especially where the 2004 original was not similarly extended. Fundamental fairness and the opportunity to be heard dictate that Mr. Spokoiny should have been provided notice of this

secret hearing.

2. The August 9, 2016 order extending judgment was amended by Judge Schubert on September 12, 2017, and is not entitled to retroactive effect.

Judge Schubert erred in granting the nunc pro tunc order.

THE COURT: So guys, this is easy. I'm just going to enter an order nunc pro tunc that amends -- or modifies the August 9th, 2016, this order extending judgment to make clear that the fees and costs that are set forth in that order are subsumed within the 45,000 and change.

[Verbatim Report of Proceedings at 36]

As WSYSA concedes on page 11 of its brief, "(t)he Nunc Pro Tunc Order was not intended to correct a mistake, substantive or procedural." However, if there was no error in their 2016 pleading, no nunc pro tunc order was required or warranted here. Accordingly, Judge Schubert's order can only be considered as an amended judgment with no retroactive effect. Judge Schubert's amended judgment (wrongly delineated as nunc pro tunc) was entered into on September 12, 2017, which is well past the end of the statutory renewal period set forth in RCW 6.17.020.

It bears noting that the need for a nunc pro tunc order could have been entirely avoided had WSYSA merely notified Mr. Spokoiny of the petition for extension and afforded him a meaningful opportunity to contest.

3. A nunc pro tunc order is only appropriate to correct clerical errors by court personnel, and not to correct errors committed by parties in drafting their own pleadings.

In <u>State v. Hendrickson</u>, 165 Wn.2d 474, 198 P.3d 1029 (2009), the Washington State Supreme Court discussed in detail when nunc pro tunc orders are appropriate and when they are not:

"A retroactive entry is proper only to rectify the record as to acts which did occur, not as to acts which should have occurred." State v. Smissaert, 103 Wn. 2d 636, 694 P.2d 654 (1985). A nunc pro tunc order "records judicial acts done at a former time which were not then carried into the record." State v. Petrich, 94 Wn.2d 291, 616 P.2d 1219 (1980). A nunc pro tunc order "may be used to make the record speak the truth, but not to make it speak what it did not speak but ought to have spoken." State v. Ryan, 146 Wash. 114, 261 P. 775 (1927). Thus, for example, a nunc pro tunc order is not appropriate to reopen a matter that was previously closed in order to resolve substantive issues differently. Instead, a nunc pro tunc order is generally appropriate to correct only ministerial or clerical errors, not judicial errors. A clerical or ministerial error is one made by a clerk or other judicial or ministerial officer in writing or keeping records.

A nunc pro tunc order allows trial courts "to date a record reflecting its action back to the time the action in fact occurred."

Hendrickson, 165 Wn.2d at 478. This "`retroactive entry is proper only to

rectify the record as to acts which did occur, not as to acts which should have occurred." Ibid. (quoting State v. Smissaert, 103 Wn.2d 636, 694 P.2d 654 (1985)). Specifically, a nunc pro tunc order translates the court's intention into an order. Ibid.

Thus, nunc pro tunc orders are not appropriate to correct judicial errors, which are errors of substance. Ibid.; In re Marriage of Stern, 68 Wn.App. 922, 846 P.2d 1387 (1993). Rather, they are generally appropriate to correct only clerical or ministerial errors, which are errors "made by a clerk or other judicial or ministerial officer in writing or keeping records." Hendrickson, 165 Wn.2d at 479.

Per State v. Luvene, 127 Wash. 2d 690, 903 P.2d 960 (1995), a nunc pro tunc order is appropriate only to record some act of the court done at an earlier time but which was not made part of the record. State v. Smissaert, 103 Wash. 2d 636, 694 P.2d 654 (1985). It cannot be used to remedy the failure to take an action at that earlier time. State v. Mehlhorn, 195 Wash. 690, 692-93, 82 P.2d 158 (1938).

"A nunc pro tunc order allows a court to date a record reflecting its action back to the time the action in fact occurred." <u>Hendrickson</u>, 165
Wn.2d at 478. A judgment nunc protunc may be used to record action previously taken, but it may not properly be used to alter a prior judgment.

Keves v. Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 11 Wn. App. 957, 528 P.2d 283 (1974). In other words, a judgment nunc pro tunc is used "'to record judicial action taken and not to remedy inaction.'" Ibid. (quoting Osborne v. Osborne, 60 Wn.2d 163, 372 P.2d 538 (1962)).

The Court of Appeals reviews a trial court's exercise of its authority to enter a nunc pro tunc order for abuse of discretion.

Hendrickson, 165 Wn.2d at 478. A trial court misuses its nunc pro tunc power and abuses its discretion when it uses such an order to change its mind or rectify a mistake of law. But where the record demonstrates that the court intended to take, and believed it was taking, a particular action only to have that action thwarted by inartful drafting, a nunc pro tunc order stands as a means of translating the court's intention into an order. Ibid.

In the instant case, the trial court lacked authority and therefore abused its discretion in granting the *sua sponte* nunc pro tunc order. WSYSA's erroneous Order Extending Judgment was not a clerical or ministerial error made by a clerk or judicial officer. Although there is no testimony in the record or even any assertion in a legal pleading where WSYSA claims to have made a drafting error in requesting and receiving over \$20,000 in attorney fees and costs, to the extent that an error was

made, WSYSA made the error and not a clerk or judicial officer.

Accordingly, a nunc pro tunc order was not appropriate to correct WSYSA's error. Indeed, this mistake could have been avoided entirely had WSYSA simply followed the hearing procedures outlined in RAP 7.2(e).

4. Although the form of notice may vary, fundamental procedural due process requires some sort of notice to the party against whom relief is sought.

As the Washington State Supreme Court stated in Olympic Prod. v. Chaussee Corp., 82 Wn.2d 418, 511 P.2d 1002 (1973):

The fourteenth amendment to the United States Constitution provides in part that no "state [shall] deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law..." Article 1, section 3 of the Washington State Constitution likewise states that, "No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." Noting the near identity in the language of these clauses, we stated in Petstel, Inc. v. County of King, 77 Wn.2d 144, 153, 459 P.2d 937 (1969), that "the federal cases while not necessarily controlling should be given 'great weight' in construing our own due process provision." We are further cognizant, of course, that insofar as the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment provides greater protection than does article 1, section 3, the federal constitution must prevail. U.S. Const. Art. 6.

For over a century it has been recognized that "Parties whose rights

are to be affected are entitled to be heard; and in order that they may enjoy that right they must first be notified." Baldwin v. Hale, 68 U.S. (1 Wall.) 223, 233 (1864). The fundamental requisites of due process are "the opportunity to be heard," Grannis v. Ordean, 234 U.S. 385, 394, 58 L.Ed. 1363, 34 S.Ct. 779 (1914), and "notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections," Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 314, 94 L.Ed. 865, 70 S.Ct. 652 (1950). Thus, "at a minimum" the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment demands that a deprivation of life, liberty or property be preceded by "notice and opportunity for hearing appropriate to the nature of the case." Mullane at 313. Moreover, this opportunity "must be granted at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner." Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545, 552, 14 L.Ed.2d 62, 85 S.Ct. 1187 (1965).

[D]ue process requires, at a minimum, that absent a countervailing state interest of overriding significance, persons forced to settle their claims of right and duty through the judicial process must be given a meaningful opportunity to be heard. <u>Boddie v. Connecticut</u>, 401 U.S. 371, 377, 28 L.Ed.2d 113, 91 S.Ct. 780 (1971).

This elasticity in the form of the hearing demanded by due process

in different contexts should not, however, be confused with the basic right to a prior hearing of some sort. The formality and procedural requisites for the hearing can vary, depending upon the importance of the interests involved and the nature of the subsequent proceedings. That the hearing required by due process is subject to waiver, and is not fixed in form does not affect its root requirement that an individual be given an opportunity for a hearing before he is deprived of any significant property interest, except for extraordinary situations where some valid governmental interest is at stake that justifies postponing the hearing until after the event.

Boddie at 378.

If the right to notice and a hearing is to serve its full purpose, then, it is clear that it must be granted at a time when the deprivation can still be prevented.... [N]o later hearing and no damage award can undo the fact that the arbitrary taking that was subject to the right of procedural due process has already occurred. This Court has not . .. embraced the general proposition that a wrong may be done if it can be undone. Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 31 L. Ed. 2d 551, 92 S. Ct. 1208 (1972).

More specifically, as a matter of constitutional principle, it is no replacement for the right to a prior hearing that is the only truly effective safeguard against arbitrary deprivation of property. Fuentes v. Shevin and

Parham v. Cortese, 407 U.S. 67, 32 L.Ed.2d 556, 92 S.Ct. 1983 (1972). Such notice and hearing need not embody all of the formalities of a full-blown trial on the merits in the principal action. Rather, due process requires that the procedural safeguards afforded the defendant be "appropriate to the nature of the case." Mullane at 313. The purpose of this hearing will be a controlling factor in determining what specific procedures are "appropriate". Olympic Prod. at 432.

Procedural due process is not intended to promote efficiency or accommodate all possible interests: it is intended to protect the particular interests of the person whose possessions are about to be taken. The establishment of prompt efficacious procedures to achieve legitimate state ends is a proper state interest worthy of cognizance in constitutional adjudication. But the Constitution recognizes higher values than speed and efficiency. Indeed, one might fairly say of the Bill of Rights in general, and the Due Process Clause in particular, that they were designed to protect the fragile values of a vulnerable citizenry from the overbearing concern for efficiency and efficacy that may characterize praiseworthy government officials no less, and perhaps more, than mediocre ones.

Stanley at 656.

5. Mr. Spokoiny was denied the opportunity to oppose the extension "for timeliness, factual issues of full or partial satisfaction, or errors in calculating the judgment summary amounts" as contemplated by RCW 6.17.020.

As set forth in his original brief, Mr. Spokoiny was not given any notice, either before or after, of WSYSA's attempted judgment extension.

The belated ability to file a motion is no substitute for the actual right to notice and the opportunity to be heard granted by the Washington and United States Constitutions.

At oral argument. Judge Schubert acknowledged problems with the 2016 judgment extension:

THE COURT: Yeah, and there was this shows why a notice is so warranted, because the fees sought in the amended judgment were contested and actually were reduced as a result of being contested, correct?
[Verbatim Report of Proceedings at 28]

WSYSA appears to confuse "default" cases, where a party waives the right to notice by failing to appear and therefore is not entitled to notice of proceedings, with "ex parte" hearings. In general, any non-defaulting party is entitled to notice and the opportunity to be heard, even for ex parte proceedings.

Tellingly, Mr. Spokoiny received copies of pleadings and advance notice from WSYSA of every single hearing associated with this case

dating back to 2004 ... except for the petition for extension.

Per RCW 6.17.020(3): "The application shall be granted as a matter of right, subject to review only for timeliness, factual issues of full or partial satisfaction, or errors in calculating the judgment summary amounts."

Clearly, this right of review on the attempted judgment extension "for timeliness, factual issues of full or partial satisfaction, or errors in calculating the judgment summary amounts" granted to Mr. Spokoiny pursuant to RCW 6.17.020(3) is entirely illusory without the corresponding notice and opportunity to be heard.

The Court of Appeals denial of an oral argument hearing to Mr. Spokoiny further compounded this fundamental unfairness.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with other published decisions of the Court of Appeals, is a significant question of law in the State of Washington, and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

By its decision, the Court of Appeals has given future litigants a free pass around RAP 7.2(e) and RCW 6.17.020(3). Furthermore, the Court of Appeals extends the application of *nunc pro tunc* orders to

situations where one of the parties, and not the judge or clerk, makes an easily avoidable drafting error. Finally, the Court of Appeals ignores longstanding state and federal jurisprudence protecting a litigant's right to a hearing when property rights are affected.

Accordingly, Mr. Spokoiny respectfully requests that this Court reverses the Court of Appeals decision and vacate the two King County Superior Court orders extending WSYSA's judgment.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 5th day of June, 2019.

By:

Larry Spokoiny, WSBA # 20274

Pro Se / Attorney

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/5/2019 3:34 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK