FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/3/2019 1:06 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

CASE NO. 97299-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 77479-4-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

LARRY SPOKOINY, an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE YOUTH SOCCER ASSOCIATION, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAMESON BABBITT STITES & LOMBARD, PLLC Brian E. Lawler, WSBA #8149 Attorney for 801 – Second Avenue, Suite 700 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 292-1994

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

¹ Spokoiny also petitioned the Court to "...review (a) the letter of December 27, 2018 setting the hearing without oral argument...." 2019 Petition at Page 1, Section A "Introduction." Yet he provides no analysis or authority for that alleged error. Under RAP 11.4(j) the Court of Appeals may decide a case without oral argument.

² In the final paragraph of his Petition, Spokoiny ask the Court to vacate "two King County Superior Court orders extending WSYSA's judgment." As noted in footnote 1 to the Opinion, Spokoiny's challenge to the 2016 order extending judgment was untimely and was not addressed by the Opinion.

latest appeal, Spokoiny contends that the King County Superior Court first erred in allowing the WSYSA to renew its judgment without notice to Mr. Spokoiny without following the procedures in RAP 7.2(e), and then compounding that error by *sua sponte* issuing an order Nunc Pro Tunc regarding the judgment renewal. Petition, Section 3 "Statement of the Case," pages 3-4. As in his two prior appeals, Mr. Spokoiny is wrong. WSYSA lawfully renewed its judgment. King County Superior Court made no error. The Court of Appeals correctly denied Spokoiny's appeal.

As set forth in the Opinion, this case begins in 2004. Spokoiny improvidently initiated a lawsuit against the WSYSA to forestall certain administrative disciplinary action, instead of pursuing available administrative appeal remedies that were available to him, in violation of WSYSA bylaws. Superior Court Judge Mary Yu ultimately dismissed the Spokoiny lawsuit and, in so doing, granted an award of attorneys' fees and costs to WSYSA. Spokoiny appealed Judge Yu's decision to the Court of Appeals. In *Spokoiny v. Wash. State Youth Soccer Ass'n*, 128 Wn. App. 794, 117 P.3d 1141 (2005) ("Spokoiny I"), this Court denied the Spokoiny appeal, granted an award of fees and costs, and remanded the case back to Judge Yu for further proceedings. Spokoiny petitioned

unsuccessfully for review to the Washington State Supreme Court. *Spokoiny v. Wash. State Youth Soccer Ass'n*, 156 Wn.2d 1036, 134 P.3d 1170 (2006). All of this legal posturing cost WSYSA scarce dollars better spent on youth soccer programs.

The story continued in *Spokoiny v. Wash. State Youth Soccer Ass'n*, No. 74326-1-I (October 31, 2016) ("Spokoiny II") in response to WSYSA's collection efforts. On September 15, 2006, WSYSA had filed a Motion for Entry of Amended Judgment and Second Request for Attorneys' Fees and Costs. Not surprisingly, Spokoiny had opposed this motion. Judge Yu issued an order in favor of WSYSA for attorneys' fees and costs on September 29, 2006. Spokoiny II. She further granted an Amended Judgment, dated September 29, 2006 totaling \$45,187.51. Spokoiny II at 2. Spokoiny did not appeal the Amended Judgment.

Nine years later, when WSYSA commenced garnishment and supplemental proceedings, Spokoiny moved unsuccessfully to quash these actions. He contended the ten year time period for renewal had expired, under RCW 6.17.020 and RCW 4.56.210, based on the initial 2004 judgment. Spokoiny II ends with the following statement in the Court of Appeals Opinion: "WSYSA

properly sought to enforce that judgment within the time period allowed by pertinent statutes. This the trial court astutely and properly permitted WSYSA to seek enforcement of the judgment against Spokoiny." Spokoiny II at page 7. Spokoiny sought review by the Supreme Court which was denied. *Spokoiny v. Wash. State Youth Soccer Ass'n*, 188 Wn.2d 1004, 393 P.3d 786 (2017).

Meanwhile, in August of 2016, WSYSA began the process of renewing its judgment under RCW 6.28. In King County Superior Court, the renewal of a judgment is an ex parte matter. CP 152; 161-166. Customary renewal procedures were followed. Declaration of Kelli Huerta, CP 151-152. Id. Contrary to Mr. Spokoiny's repeated (and false) assertions, WSYSA did not add attorney's fees of \$20,471, nor additional costs of \$2,133.41 allegedly incurred in the 2016 appeal. CP 177-178. Verbatim Report of Proceedings (RP) 31, lines 1 -22; 32 lines 21-25; 33, 1 -23. Mr. Spokoiny misread the renewed judgment summary form which merely restated the amount of attorney's fees (\$20,741) and costs (\$2,133.41) previously awarded by Judge Yu in 2006. CP 168-169. Nothing in the record supports his contention that any kind of fee petition was submitted in connection with the judgment renewal.

Let's be clear. In the initial Order Extending Judgment, the amount stated under Total Fees was \$20,471 and the costs were \$2,133.41, the amount previously awarded by Judge Yu in the 2006 Judgment. CP 168-169. This is apparent from the worksheet of Kelli Huerta, which is found at the last page of Attachment A to her declaration where she summarizes fees:

DESCRIPTION	AMOUNT	DAILY INTEREST	DAYS	INTEREST
Original Judgment	\$ 16,353.83	\$5.38	3597	\$ 19,339.64
Fees:	\$ 20,471.00	\$6.73	3597	\$ 24,208.50
Costs:	\$ 2,133.41	\$0.70	3597	\$ 2,522.92
Interest:	\$ 6,509.27	N/A	N/A	\$ 6,509.27
TOTAL:	\$ 45,467.51			\$ 52,580.33

AMENDED JUDGMENT INTEREST				
Original Judgment:	\$	4,250.92		
Pre-Judgment:	\$	2,258.35		
TOTAL:	\$	6,509.27		

AMENDED JUDGMENT COSTS					
Assessed by COA:	\$	1,825.59			
Since COA decision:	\$	307.82			
TOTAL:	\$	2,133.41			

AMENDED JUDGME	NT FE	EES
Assessed by COA:	\$	16,994.00
Accrued by COA:	\$	3,197.00
Presenting Motion:	\$	280.00
TOTAL:	\$	20,471.00

CP 156.

During oral argument, King County Superior Court Judge Schubert astutely recognized this and requested *sua sponte* that WSYSA present an order Nunc Pro Tunc to clarify (not modify) that WSYSA had not sought additional attorneys fees or costs. RP 33, lines 19-25; 34, lines 3-13.; 18-25; 35, lines 2-8; 36, lines 3-15. This clarification was accomplished by amending the Order Extending Judgment to read as follows:

Total Fees: (Previously awarded and included in Judgment Amount). CP 177.

The effect of the Nunc Pro Tunc Order was a non-substantive clarification, with no effect on what Spokoiny owed on the judgment. Judge Schubert further denied Spokoiny's erroneous argument that WSYSA violated RAP 7.2(e) in renewing its judgment. CP 173-174. The Court of Appeals Opinion correctly upheld Judge Schubert's decisions.

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEWED SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED UNDER RAP 13.4

- A. The Court of Appeals Decision Correctly Held That RAP 7.2(e) Does Not Apply.
- 1. RAP 7.2(c), Not RAP 7.2(e) Is the Controlling Rule.

Spokoiny's first argument (Petition, Argument D.1) asserts that WSYSA violated RAP 7.2(e) in extending its judgment and that both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals erred in denying his challenge to the renewal. His argument has no support in case law and is otherwise undercut by RAP 7.2(c).

RAP 7.2(e) and RAP7.2(c) address different issues. RAP 7.2(e) applies to certain post judgment motions and actions to modify a judicial decision under review. RAP 7.2(c), on the other hand, applies to the enforcement of trial court decisions. WSYSA's Petition for Order Extending Judgment was not a post judgment motion within the meaning of RAP 7.2(e) as it was not a modification of a judicial decision. Rather, it was a procedure under RCW 6.17.020(3) allowing continued enforcement of a valid judgment, as allowed by RAP 7.2(c). The difference in the functions of these two provision is apparent from their text.

RAP 7.2(e) states as follows:

"(e) Post Judgment Motions and Actions to Modify Decision. The trial court has authority to hear and determine (1) post judgment motions authorized by the civil rules, the criminal rules, or statutes, and (2) actions to change or modify a decision that is subject to modification by the court that initially made the decision. The post judgment motion or action shall first be heard by the trial court, which shall decide the matter. If

the trial court determination will change a decision then being reviewed by the appellate court, the permission of the appellate court must be obtained prior to the formal entry of the trial court decision. A party should seek the required permission by motion. The decision granting or denying a post judgment motion may be subject to review. Except as provided in rule 2.4, a party may only obtain review of the decision on the post judgment motion by initiating a separate review in the manner and within the time provided by these rules. If review of a post judgment motion is accepted while the appellate court is reviewing another decision in the same case, the appellate court may on its own initiative or on motion of a party consolidate the separate reviews as provided in rule 3.3(b)." [Emphasis added.]

RAP 7.2(c) states as follows:

"(c) Enforcement of Trial Court Decision in Civil Cases. In a civil case, except to the extent enforcement of a judgment or decision has been stayed as provided in rules 8.1 or 8.3, the trial court has authority to enforce any decision of the trial court and a party may execute on any judgment of the trial court. Any person may take action premised on the validity of a trial court judgment or decision until enforcement of the judgment or decision is stayed as provided in rules 8.1 or 8.3." [Emphasis added.]

It is undisputed that Spokoiny never stayed the enforcement of the judgment against him. Hence, WSYSA has always had the right to pursue enforcement of its judgment.

RCW Title 6, expressly named "Enforcement of Judgments" deals with various matters relating to enforcement of

judgments, ranging from Execution of Judgments at RCW 6.17, to Garnishments at RCW 6.27, to Supplemental Proceedings at RCW 6.32, to the Uniform Foreign-Money Claims Act at RCW 6.44.

Judgment may initially be enforced at any time within ten years from the date of entry. RCW 6.17.020. A judgment may be renewed for an additional ten years under RCW 6.17.010(3). The order granting the application for renewal shall contain an updated judgment summary as provided for in RCW 4.64.030. The petition for renewal is to be granted as a matter of right, subject to review only for timeliness, factual issues of full or partial satisfaction, or errors in calculating the judgment amounts. RCW 6.17.020(3). RAP 7.2(c) then should be the controlling provision for the enforcement of a judgment under RCW Chapter 6, including its renewal.

2. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent with Washington Case Law.

Spokoiny's RAP 7.2(e) argument rests on a single case, State ex rel Shafer v. Bloomer, 94 Wn. App. 246, 973 P.2d 1062 (1999). The case is factually dissimilar. Chris Bloomer appealed a Superior Court order of contempt against him for his failure to make child support payments. During the pendency of the appeal, the trial court continued proceedings on the contempt matter,

ultimately dismissing its order of contempt against Bloomer. The Court of Appeals found the dismissal violated RAP 7.2(e) by modifying and dismissing the very contempt order under appellate review.

By contrast here, Judge Schubert (and the Court Commissioner before him on August 8, 2017), changed nothing that was under review. The King County Superior Court merely allowed WSYSA to renew a judgment which was eligible for renewal. Other than allowed interest, nothing else changed in the amount of the judgment. The Court of Appeals Decision confirmed this analysis. The Court of Appeals Decision is not in conflict with Washington case law.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held that the Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Issuing an Order Nunc Pro Tunc Clarifying Its Order Extending Judgment.

Spokoiny's second and third arguments (Petition, Arguments D.2 and D.3) deal with the appropriateness, validity, and retroactive effect of the September 17, 2017 Nunc Pro Tunc Order of Judge Schubert. Those arguments will be addressed collectively here.

While Argument No. 2 has no case citations, Argument No. 3 brings forth a series of Washington cases on Nunc Pro Tunc

jurisprudence. WSYSA takes no issue with those cases that state the standard principal that Nunc Pro Tunc order cannot be used to correct judicial errors or alter prior judgments. But what relevance do those cases have here? No one is arguing that Judge Schubert's Order altered a judgment. The amount Spokoiny owed on the judgment was the same before and after the Nunc Pro Tunc Order.

Spokoiny's argument seems to be (a) the WSYSA made a drafting error in its Order extending judgment and (b) the doctrine of Nunc Pro Tunc cannot apply to an error made by a party rather than clerk or judicial official. Petition at pages 9 and 10. Opinion at 7. The false premise of the Petition is that there was an error. If that were the case, then there would have been a substantive change in the judgment. There was not. Opinion at 9.

The error has always been in Spokoiny's mind. As he (incorrectly) states in the Petition: "On August 9, 2016, while the Court of Appeal's case was pending...WSYSA obtained an Order Extending Judgment plus \$20,471 in attorneys fees and \$2,133.41 in costs allegedly incurred on appeal. CP at 3-4, 35." Petition at 2, 3. [Emphasis added.] This statement and premise is incorrect. In any event the order Nunc Pro Tunc clarified any source of confusion.

C. Spokoiny Was Not Denied Due Process.

Spokoiny's issues at Petition, Arguments D #4 and #5 address due process and the opportunity to oppose the judgment renewal under RCW 6.17. His argument No. 4 is long on the rhetoric of due process jurisprudence, which is not really disputed in this case, but lacks any direct challenge to any Washington statute. His argument No. 5 asserts a right to advance notice of the judgment extension. Yet, his argument is cursory. Is he challenging RCW 6.17.020, and if so, where is the analysis that a judgment renewal is the type of proceeding that is to be heard in a noticed, contested proceeding like a motion? As noted in the Opinion at page 6, RCW 6.17.020(3) does not contain an express notice requirement. How does Spokoiny address this? He just ignores it. As the Opinion notes at page 7, Spokoiny does not provide authority to support that a petition to extend a judgment requires notice to the other party. In such cases, the Court may assume that after diligent research, no supporting authority has been found. Opinion at 7 citing to DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 60 WN. 2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962).

Is Spokoiny challenging the King County Superior Court procedures which authorize judgment renewals as one of many type of ex parte matters? CP 161-166. If so, where is the analysis?

What substantively is it exactly that Spokoiny feels he was denied due process on? RCW 6.17.020(3) allows a judgment renewal as a matter of right, subject to review regarding (1) timeliness, (2) factual matters of partial or full satisfaction, or errors in calculating judgment amounts. Spokoiny has not alleged a timeliness issue, a factual matter on satisfaction, or an error in calculations. His due process argument lacks any connection to an alleged error.

Less legally relevant, but perhaps worth noting, Spokoiny makes an unsubstantiated and misleading factual argument that he has received notice from WSYSA for every other "hearing associated with this case...except the petition for extension." Petition at pages 14-15. Any "hearing" would require notice. Judgment enforcement actions do not require advance notice. See RCW 6.17.020. Spokoiny actually concedes this point in his Petition at C. "Statement of the Case" where he states that WSYSA pursued a Writ of Garnishment in August of 2015 and an ex parte Order for Supplemental Proceedings in September of 2015, the issuance of which he then

challenged after the fact in a Motion to Quash which he later appealed (and lost). He received no advance notice of the garnishment or supplemental proceedings order that were issued ex parte.

The Court of Appeals correctly disposed of this "notice" issue in its analysis at pages 6 and 7.

D. The Case Does Not Otherwise Meet the Requirements for Review under RAP 13.4(b).

The Spokoiny Petition asserts in its Conclusion on page 15 that: "The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with other published decisions of the Court of Appeals, is a significant question of law in the State of Washington, and involves an issue of substantial pubic interest that should be determined by the Court." The Petition does not meet any of these standards.

The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, on the issue of judgment renewals. The Court of Appeals Decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Other than trying to achieve a personal windfall in debt reduction through a technicality, what is the important public purpose of his Petition?

Spokoiny suggests that the Opinion gives a "free pass around RAP 7.2(e) and RCW 6.17.010(3)" without elaboration what that free pass is. The Opinion is unpublished and is not to be cited as having prudential value. GR 14.1(a).

V. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny review.